Dow AgroSciences LLC Petition (13-262-01p) for Determination of Nonregulated Status of Event DAS-8191Ø-7 Cotton

OECD Unique Identifier: DAS-8191Ø-7

Plant Pest Risk Assessment

March 2015

Agency Contact Cindy Eck Biotechnology Regulatory Services 4700 River Road USDA, APHIS Riverdale, MD 20737

Fax: (301) 734-8669

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) prohibits discrimination in all its programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, religion, age, disability, political beliefs, sexual orientation, or marital or family status. (Not all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA'S TARGET Center at (202) 720–2600 (voice and TDD).

To file a complaint of discrimination, write USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, Room 326–W, Whitten Building, 1400 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20250–9410 or call (202) 720–5964 (voice and TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.

Mention of companies or commercial products in this report does not imply recommendation or endorsement by the U.S. Department of Agriculture over others not mentioned. USDA neither guarantees nor warrants the standard of any product mentioned. Product names are mentioned solely to report factually on available data and to provide specific information.

This publication reports research involving pesticides. All uses of pesticides must be registered by appropriate State and/or Federal agencies before they can be recommended.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A.	Introduction	2
B.	Development of DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton	4
C.	Description of Inserted Genetic Material, Its Inheritance and Expression,	
	Gene Products, and Changes to Plant Metabolism	7
D.	Potential Plant Pest and Disease Impacts	11
E.	Potential Impacts on Nontarget Organisms Beneficial to Agriculture	13
F.	Potential for Enhanced Weediness of DAS-8191Ø-7	15
G.	Potential Impacts on the Weediness of Any Other Plants with which DAS-	
	8191Ø-7 Can Interbreed	17
H.	Potential Changes to Agriculture or Cultivation Practices	22
I.	Potential Impacts from Transfer of Genetic Information to Organisms with	
	which DAS-8191Ø-7 Cannot Interbreed	24
J.	Conclusion	26
K.	References	28

A. Introduction

Dow AgroSciences LLC (hereafter referred to as DAS) has petitioned the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) of the United States Department Agriculture (USDA) for a determination that genetically engineered (GE) glufosinate and 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) herbicide-resistant cotton event DAS-8191Ø-7 and OECD Unique Identifier DAS-8191Ø-7 (hereinafter referred to as DAS-8191Ø-7) is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk and, therefore, should no longer be a regulated article under the APHIS 7 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) part 340. This petition was assigned the number 13-262-01p, and is hereafter referenced as DAS 2013. APHIS administers 7 CFR part 340 under the authority of the plant pest provisions of the Plant Protection Act (PPA) of 2000 (7 U.S.C. 7701 *et seq.*)². This plant pest risk assessment was conducted to determine if DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk.

APHIS regulations in 7 CFR part 340 regulate the introduction (importation, interstate movement, or release into the environment) of certain GE organisms and products. A GE organism is no longer subject to the plant pest provisions of the PPA or to the regulatory requirements of part 340 when APHIS determines that it is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk. A GE organism is considered a regulated article under part 340 if the donor organism, recipient organism, or vector, or vector agent used in engineering the organism belongs to any genera or taxa designated in 7 CFR 340.2 and meets the definition of plant pest, or is an unclassified organism and/or an organism whose classification is unknown, or any product which contains such an organism, or any other organism or product altered or produced through genetic engineering which the APHIS Administrator determines is a plant pest or has reason to believe is a plant pest³.

¹ DAS has described the phenotype of DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton as "herbicide tolerant" and historically APHIS has also referred to GE plants with reduced herbicide sensitivity as herbicide tolerant. However, the phenotype would fall under the Weed Science Society of America (WSSA) definition of "herbicide resistance" since DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton has an "inherited ability to survive and reproduce following exposure to a dose of herbicide normally lethal to the wild type". By the WSSA, (1998) definition, "resistance (to an herbicide) may be naturally occurring or induced by such techniques as genetic engineering or selection of variants produced by tissue culture or mutagenesis." Herbicide tolerance, by the WSSA definition, only applies to plant species with an "inherent ability to survive and reproduce after herbicide treatment. This implies that there was no selection or genetic manipulation to make the plant tolerant; it is naturally tolerant."

² Plant Protection Act in 7 U.S.C. 7702 § 403(14) defines plant pest as: "Plant Pest - The term "plant pest" means any living stage of any of the following that can directly or indirectly injure, cause damage to, or cause disease in any plant or plant product: (A) A protozoan. (B) A nonhuman animal. (C) A parasitic plant. (D) A bacterium. (E) A fungus. (F) A virus or viroid. (G) An infectious agent or other pathogen. (H) Any article similar to or allied with any of the articles specified in the preceding subparagraphs."

³ Limited exclusions or exemptions apply for certain engineered microorganisms and for interstate movement of some organisms, as in 7 CFR 340.1 and 340.2(b).

DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton was produced by transformation of cotton hypocotyl segments with *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. In addition, some of the regulatory sequences were derived from plant pests including, promoter and 5' untranslated region (UTR) from cassava vein mosaic virus, and 3' UTR and T-DNA border and intervening sequence from *A. tumefaciens* (DAS 2013, pp. 25-36). Therefore, DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton is considered a regulated article under APHIS regulations at 7 CFR part 340. DAS has conducted releases into the environment of DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton as a regulated article under APHIS-authorized notifications since 2010 (DAS 2013, Appendix 9, p. 202), in part, to gather information to support that DAS-8191Ø-7 is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk.

Potential impacts in this Plant Pest Risk Assessment are those that pertain to plant pest risk associated with DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton and its progeny and their use in the absence of confinement relative to the unmodified recipient and/or other appropriate comparators. APHIS utilizes data and information submitted by the applicant, in addition to current literature, to determine if DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk. APHIS regulations in 7 CFR 340.6(c) specifies the information needed for consideration in a petition for nonregulated status. APHIS will assess information submitted by the applicant about DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton related to: plant pest risk characteristics; expression of the gene product, new enzymes, or changes to plant metabolism; disease and pest susceptibilities and indirect plant pest effects on other agricultural products; effects of the regulated article on nontarget organisms; weediness of the regulated article; impact on the weediness of any other plant with which it can interbreed; changes to agricultural or cultivation practices that may impact diseases and pests of plants; and transfer of genetic information to organisms with which it cannot interbreed.

APHIS may also consider information relevant to reviews conducted by other agencies that are part of the 'Coordinated Framework for the Regulation of Biotechnology' (51 FR 23302, 1986; 57 FR 22984, 1992). Under the Coordinated Framework, the oversight of biotechnology-derived plants rests with APHIS, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), and the Office of Pesticide Programs of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Depending on its characteristics, certain biotechnology-derived products are subjected to review by one or more of these agencies.

EPA regulates under the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA) (7 U.S.C. 136 *et seq.*) the distribution, sale, use and testing of pesticidal substances produced in plants and microbes, including those pesticides that are produced by an organism through techniques of modern biotechnology. EPA also sets tolerance limits for residues of pesticides on and in food and animal feed, or establishes an exemption from the requirement for a tolerance, under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (FFDCA) (21 U.S.C. Chapter 9). Prior to registration for a new use for a new or previously registered pesticide, EPA must determine through testing that the pesticide does not cause unreasonable adverse effects on humans, the environment, and nontarget species when used in accordance with label

instructions. EPA must also approve the language used on the pesticide label in accordance with 40 CFR part 158. Other applicable EPA regulations include 40 CFR part 152 - Pesticide Registration and Classification Procedures, part 174 - Procedures and Requirements for Plant Incorporated Protectants (PIPs) and part 172 - Experimental Use Permits.

The FDA under the FFDCA is responsible for ensuring the safety and proper labeling of all plant-derived foods and feeds, including those developed through modern biotechnology. To help sponsors of foods and feeds derived from genetically engineered crops comply with their obligations, the FDA encourages them to participate in its voluntary early food safety evaluation for new non-pesticidal proteins produced by new plant varieties intended to be used as food (FDA 2006) and a more comprehensive voluntary consultation process prior to commercial distribution of food or feed (57 FR 22984).

DAS submitted a 2,4-D formulation (Enlist Duo) registration for DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton and a tolerance petition to EPA on July 30, 2014. DAS submitted data on the food and feed safety of DAS-8191Ø-7 in Premarket Biotechnology Notice (PBN) to FDA (Biotechnology Notification File (BNF) 000142) and completed consultation on November 14, 2014 (DAS 2013, p. 19).

B. Development of DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton

The United States is a major producer of cotton with exports alone in 2013 amounting to \$5.7 billion (USDA ERS FAS 2013). Cotton belongs to the genus Gossypium, which consists of 49 species, four of which are generally cultivated in tropical and subtropical regions around the world (Fryxell 1979; Fryxell 1984; OECD 2008; Percival 1999; Wendel 2003; Wendel 2010). Cotton is a perennial cultivated as an annual, and is more limited geographically than other major crops in the United States because it can be grown only in regions with more than 180-200 frost-free days per year (Fryxell 1979; OECD 2008). The most commonly cultivated species in the United States, G. hirsutum (Upland cotton), comprising 98% of the 2013 cotton crop (USDA NASS 2013) and is the subject of this risk assessment. Over the last decade, Upland cotton has been grown on an average of 11.9 million acres annually in 17 states from Virginia southward and westward to California, an area often referred to as the Cotton Belt (Figure 1). Smaller amounts of G. barbadense (Pima or Egyptian cotton) are cultivated in Arizona, California, New Mexico, and Texas (USDA NASS 2013). Two other cultivated species, G. arboretum and G. herbaceum, are not grown in the United States or its territories (USDA NRCS 2013, USDA NASS 2013).



Figure 1. Upland cotton planted in the United States (USDA NASS 2013).

Weed control in cotton is essential to maximize cotton fiber yield and quality. Prior to the introduction of herbicides, mechanical tillage and hand hoeing were the primary means of controlling weeds in cotton (Buchannan 1992). As herbicide use began to develop in the 1940s, and rapidly accelerated in the 1960s, a series of herbicides active against broadleaf plants were introduced into the market. By 1968, 22 herbicides and herbicide combinations were being used in cotton (Buchanan 1992). With the commercial introduction of genetically engineered glyphosateresistant cotton in 1997, glyphosate use increased while the use of other herbicides declined (Webster 2012). In 2010 approximately 78 percent of Upland cotton produced in the United States were glyphosate-tolerant varieties (USDA ARS 2013).

Widespread adoption of glyphosates in cotton, soybean and corn cultivation in the United States and the common practice of using it exclusively, has led to the emergence of glyphosate-resistant weeds (USDA ARS 2013). Repeated and intensive use of herbicides with the same mechanisms of action can rapidly select for tolerant, difficult-to-control weeds and for herbicide-resistant weeds, especially in the absence of the concurrent use of herbicides with different mechanisms of action and/or use of different mechanical or cultural practices for weed control (Vencill 2012). As a result of the common use of glyphosates to control weeds, fourteen confirmed glyphosate-resistant weeds are reported in the United States, including Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) now considered the most troublesome weed in cotton growing regions and ranked as a troublesome weed in nine states (Heap 2013; Webster 2012).

DAS-8191Ø-7 was generated using a recipient line (Coker 310) of Upland cotton (*Glycine max* L.) that has been genetically engineered to be resistant to the herbicide 2,4-D and contains a marker gene for transformation selection with glufosinate. According to DAS, DAS8191Ø-7 was developed to provide expanded weed management options in cotton (DAS 2013, p. 130). The herbicide 2,4-D has been used post-emergence in many monocot crops (such as corn, wheat and rice) for the selective control of broadleaf weeds (EPA 2005; Wright 2013). 2,4-D is a synthetic auxin herbicide affecting plant growth in a manner similar to the plant-made auxin-type hormone 3-indoleacetic acid (IAA) by binding to IAA receptors in plants. Although the specific binding site relevant to the action of auxin-mimicking herbicides has not been identified, endogenous auxins have been shown to be essential for plant development and facilitate a diverse array of responses in plants,

such as the control of senescence, response to pathogens, fruit formation, leaf abscission, apical dominance, polarity and tropic responses to light and gravity (Grossman 2009; Sauer 2013; WSSA 2007). At the cellular level, auxin controls cell division and cell elongation and is involved in cross-talk responses with other phytohormones. When auxin-type herbicides are used in weed control they typically cause twisting of stems and petioles, stem swelling and elongation and leaf cupping and curling. This is followed by chlorosis at the growing points, growth inhibition, wilting and necrosis. Death of susceptible plants usually occurs within 3 -5 weeks (WSSA 2007).

DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton expresses the AAD-12 (aryloxyalkanoate dioxygenase-12) and PAT (phosphinothricin acetyltransferase) proteins. AAD-12 is able to degrade the pyridyloxyacetates auxins (e.g., triclopyr, fluoroxypyr) in addition to achiral phenoxy auxins (e.g., 2,4-D, MCPA, 4-chlorophenoxyacetic acid)(Wright 2013). AAD-12 is enantioselective⁴, selectively cleaving only (S) enantiomers of chiral aryloxyphenoxypropionate (AOPP) herbicides (Müller 2006; Wright 2010). Because only (R) enantiomers are effective as herbicides, AAD-12 is not of utility for providing resistance to chiral AOPP herbicides (Wright 2010).

DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton also expresses the PAT protein that inactivates glufosinate (DAS 2013, p. 30). Glufosinate is a non-selective foliar herbicide used for pre-plant and post-emergence control of broadleaf plants and annual and perennial grasses (DAS 2013, p. 17; EPA 2008). Glufosinate was first registered by EPA for use in crops in 2000 as a non-selective foliar herbicide used for pre-plant and post-emergence control of broadleaf weeds (EPA 2008). It is currently registered for use on many crops including apples, berries, cotton, corn, cotton, currants, grapes, grass grown for seed, potatoes, rice, soybeans, sugar beets, and tree nuts and for use in non-crop areas including lawns and residential areas (EPA 2008). Numerous glufosinate resistant crops containing the PAT protein have undergone regulatory review and approval in the United States and several other countries (see list in ILSI CERA 2011). DAS stated in communications with APHIS, that "In DAS-8191Ø -7, pat is a selectable marker and is not intended to be commercialized as a stand-alone trait providing commercial field tolerance to glufosinate" (Rudgers 2014).

The *aad-12* and *pat* expression cassettes introduced into DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton are the same as those introduced into DAS-68416-4 (09-349-01p) and DAS-444Ø6-6 (11-234-01p) soybean for which APHIS reached a Determination of nonregulated status on September 22, 2014, following completion of a Final Environmental Impact Statement (DAS, 2010; DAS and MS Tech 2011; DAS 2013, p. 4).

_

⁴ Chiral (not superimposable) molecules come in pairs of enantiomers, labeled R and S, such as diclorprop and mecoprop. Achiral (not chiral) molecules are superimposable on their mirror images, such as 2,4-D and MCPA.

C. Description of Inserted Genetic Material, Its Inheritance and Expression, Gene Products, and Changes to Plant Metabolism

To inform the potential hazards resulting from the genetic modification and potential routes of exposure related to the inserted DNA and its expression products, APHIS assessed data and information presented in the petition related to: the transformation process; the source of the inserted genetic material and its function in both the donor organism and DAS-8191Ø-7; and the integrity, stability and mode of inheritance of the inserted genetic material through sexual or asexual reproduction based on the location of the insertion (e.g. nucleus or organelle) and the number of loci inserted.

APHIS also assessed data presented in the petition on whether the genetic modification results in expression of new genes, proteins, or enzymes or changes in plant metabolism or composition in DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton relative to the nontransgenic counterparts. The assessment encompasses a consideration of the expressed proteins and any observed or anticipated effects on plant metabolism including, any relevant changes in levels of metabolites, antinutrients, or nutrients in harvested seed and fiber derived from DAS-8191Ø-7 compared to those in the conventional counterpart or to other comparators.

This information is used later in this risk assessment to inform whether there is any potential for plant pest vectors or sequences to cause disease or greater plant pest risks in DAS-8191Ø-7; or for expression of inserted DNA, new proteins or enzymes, or changes in metabolism to affect plant pest or diseases, nontarget beneficial organisms, weediness, agricultural practices that impact pest or diseases or their management, or plant pest risks through horizontal gene flow.

Description of the genetic modification and inheritance of inserted DNA

Cotton DAS-8191Ø-7 was produced by transformation using disarmed *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* (DAS 2013, pp. 21-24). Cotton cultivar Coker 310 hypocotyl segments were infected with *A. tumefaciens* strain LBA4404 carrying the binary vector pDAB4468 (Ooms 1982). Infected hypocotyl segments were cultured on media containing carbenicillin to inhibit the growth of *A. tumefaciens* and glufosinate to select for transformed tissue followed by *add-12* and *pat* specific PCR analysis. Putative transformants were treated with plant growth regulators to stimulate root generation, painted with 1.5% w/v glufosinate to screen for transformants and screened for the absence of plasmid backbone sequence and the presence of the *add-12* and *pat* genes.

The introduced DNA included a partial T-DNA border sequence from *A. tumefaciens* and intervening sequences to facilitate cloning (DAS 2013, pp. 25-32). The pDAB4468 plasmid generated a T-DNA with two gene expression cassettes, as follows:

Aryloxyalkanoate dioxygenase-12 (AAD-12)

- RB7 Matrix attachment region⁵ (MAR) from the *Nicotiana tabacum rb-7-5A* gene (Hall 1991).
- Polyubiquitin promoter (AtUbi10) from *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Norris 1993).
- *aad-12* gene from *Delftia acidovorans* (den Dooren de Jon) strain MC1 encoding an aryloxyalkanoate dioxygenase-12 enzyme (AAD-12), formerly *spdA* (Westendorf 2002; Westendorf 2003; Wright 2010; Wright 2013).
- 3' untranslated region (UTR) comprising the transcriptional terminator and polyadenylation site of open reading frame 23 (ORF23) of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* pTi15955 (Barker 1983)

Phosphinothricin N-acetyltransferase (PAT)

- Promoter and the 5'UTR from the cassava vein mosaic virus (CsVMV) (Verdagurer 1996).
- *pat* (phosphinothricin N-acetyltransferase) gene from *Streptomyces viridochromogenes* inactivates the herbicide glufosinate (Wohlleben 1988).
- 3' untranslated region (UTR) comprising the transcriptional terminator and polyadenylation site of open reading frame 1 (ORF1) of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* pTi15955 (Barker 1983).

DAS provided evidence demonstrating that:

- The DNA inserted into the DAS-8191Ø-7 genome is present at a single locus and contains one copy of the AAD-12 and PAT expression cassettes, but does not contain any of the backbone sequences from pDAB4468 (DAS 2013, pp. 29-66).
- The inserted DNA was stably inherited across five generations (DAS 2013, pp. 67-68).

Expression of inserted DNA, changes in gene expression, new proteins or metabolism

Event DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton expresses the AAD-12 protein, comprised of 293 amino acids with a molecular weight of 32 kDal (DAS 2013, p. 69). The native *aad-12* gene was derived from *Delftia acidovorans* (Wright 2007; Wright 2013). *D. acidovorans* (previously designated *Pseudomonas acidovorans* prior to 1987, and *Comanonas acidovorans* from 1987-1999) is a chemoorganotrophic, non-sporeforming, strictly aerobic, gram negative bacterium widely distributed in soil and water and also found infrequently in clinical settings (Tamaoka 1987; von Graeventiz 1985; Wen 1999). The native AAD-12 protein was altered for optimal

-

⁵ Chromosomal DNA is organized into looped domains through interactions with and attachment to a proteinaceous structure, called the nuclear scaffold or matrix. Specific chromosomal DNA sequences are thought to contain attachment regions that anchor the DNA to the matrix. Attachment regions may increase levels of expression, reduce transformant-to-transformant variation of expression, stabilize transgene expression and minimize transgene silencing (Allen 2000).

expression in cotton by modifying the G+C content bias to better match the bias in plants (DAS 2013, p. 25). The native and plant optimized DNA sequences of the *aad-12* gene are 80% identical, and produce an AAD-12 protein that is greater than 99% identical, differing only by the addition of a single amino acid, alanine, at position number two in DAS-8191Ø-7 (DAS 2013, p. 25 & 69). The additional alanine encodes part of a *NcoI* restriction enzyme recognition site (CCATGG) spanning the ATG translation start codon. The additional codon serves the dual purpose of facilitating subsequent cloning and improving the sequence context surrounding the ATG start codon, thus optimizing translation initiation (DAS 2013, p. 69). The alanine should not have an effect on the structure, activity, or specificity, because the N-terminus is sterically distant from the catalytic site of the AAD-12 protein (Hogan 2000). The AAD-12 protein expressed in DAS-8191Ø-7 is identical to that produced in DAS-68416-4 and in DAS 444Ø6-6 soybean for which APHIS has reached a Determination of nonregulated status (petition numbers 09-349-01p and 11-234-01p, respectively), (DAS 2010; DAS and MS Tech 2011; DAS 2013).

Functional assays demonstrated that the AAD-12 protein was active and protected DAS-8191Ø-7 from damage following 2,4-D application (DAS 2013, Table 19 and Fig. 58, pp. 115 and 158). The AAD-12 protein was found to be expressed throughout the life-cycle and tissues of the plant, including roots and seeds, with highest expression in leaves (DAS 2013, Table 8, p. 73). This is expected since expression of the *add-12* gene in DAS-8191Ø-7 is driven by the constitutive polyubiquitin UBQ10 promoter from *A. thaliana* (DAS 2013, Table 2, p. 30; Norris 1993).

The AAD-12 protein is highly specific for 2,4-D (Griffin 2013; DAS 2013, pp. 70-71). *In vitro* assays using plant endogenous compound, including natural plant hormones, phenylpropanoid and flavonoid secondary metabolites and all 20 amino acids, demonstrated that none of these served as a substrate for AAD-12. Therefore, because of the apparent high substrate specificity, the AAD-12 protein is unlikely to catalyze the conversion of other endogenous substrates, thereby affecting the metabolic system of DAS-8191Ø-7.

The AAD-12 enzyme confers herbicidal resistance by cleaving of 2,4-D into non-herbicidal 2,4-dichlorophenol (2,4-DCP) (Wesendorf 2002; Wesendorf 2003; Wright 2013). The degradation products of 2,4-D are 1,2,4 benzenetriol, 2,4-dichlorophenol (2,4-DCP), 2,4-dichloroanisole (2,4-DCA), 4-chlorophenol, chlorohydroquinone (CHQ), volatile organics, bound residues, and carbon dioxide (EPA 2005). EPA has determined that residues other than 2,4-D are not of risk concern due to low occurrence under environmental conditions, comparatively low toxicity, or a combination thereof (EPA 2005).

The PAT protein expressed in DAS-8191Ø-7 is comprised of 183 amino acids with a molecular weight of 20 kDal (DAS 2013, p. 78, Fig. 39). The native *pat* gene was derived from *Streptomyces viridochromogenes* (Wohlleben 1988), a gram-positive soil bacterium that is widely distributed in nature (Trejo 1963). The PAT protein is

identical to the native *S. hygroscopicus* protein and that produced in DAS-68416-4 soybean and DAS 444Ø6-6 (DAS 2010, DAS and MS Tech 2011, DAS 2013) with an APHIS Determination of nonregulated status. However, both the DAS-68416-4 and DAS 444Ø6-6 soybean lines are intended to be commercialized for use with the herbicide glufosinate (and the herbicide 2,4-D), whereas in DAS-81910-7, pat is a selectable marker and is not intended to be commercialized as a stand-alone trait providing commercial field tolerance to glufosinate (Rudgers 2014). The *pat* gene is also expressed in other previously deregulated GE crops, including soybean and corn (USDA APHIS 1996, USDA APHIS 2001, USDA APHIS 2004, USDA APHIS 2005) and the PAT protein has been the subject of numerous safety reviews (EPA 2008; Hérouet 2005; OECD 1999).

Functional assays demonstrated that the PAT protein was active and protected DAS-8191Ø-7 from damage following glufosinate application (DAS 2013, Table 19 and Fig. 65, pp. 115 and 172). The PAT protein in DAS-8191Ø-7, driven by the constitutive promoter from the cassava vein mosaic virus (DAS 2013, Table 2, p. 30; Verdaguer 1996) was found to be expressed throughout the life-cycle and tissues of the plant, including roots and seeds, with the highest expression in leaves (DAS 2013, Table 10, p. 80).

PAT is an enzyme that confers glufosinate resistance by catalyzing the acetylation of the free amino group of the L-isomer of phosphinothricin (L-PPT) to yield the herbicidally inactive compound N-acetyl-L-PPT (EPA 2008; OECD 1999). L-PPT is the active ingredient of the herbicide glufosinate ammonium, because only the L-isomer inhibits glutamine synthetase and is, therefore, herbicidally active. PAT proteins are highly specific for L-phosphinothricin (Wehrmann 1996). Other L-amino acids, including the L-phosphinothricin analogue L-glutamate, are unable to be acetylated by PAT and do not inhibit acetylation of L-phosphinothricin in competition assays (Wehrmann1996). Therefore, the PAT protein is unlikely to affect the metabolic system of DAS-8191Ø-7.

DAS carried out a compositional assessment of DAS-8191Ø-7 by comparing DAS-8191Ø-7 seed to seed from conventional control varieties using the principles outlined in the OECD consensus document of the compositional considerations for cotton (Herman 2013; OECD 2009). The samples for compositional assessment were collected from eight locations in 2012, chosen to represent typical cotton growing regions in the United States (DAS 2013, pp. 83 & 202). To provide a range of values of the normal variability of commercial cotton lines when grown in a variety of locations, the compositional assessment was obtained from planting six commercial nontransgenic cotton reference lines as reference varieties, along with values provided from published literature ranges (DAS 2013, p. 83). Compositional analyses of cotton seed samples included: nine proximates and fiber, twelve minerals, eighteen amino acids, twenty-two fatty acids, seven vitamins and five antinutrients (DAS 2013, pp. 83-111). Of the 73 analytes tested, 14 were excluded from the combined site analysis because more than 50% of the results were below the limit of quantification (LOQ). Overall, a comprehensive evaluation of event DAS-

8191Ø-7 cottonseed and the controls showed no biologically meaningful differences for seed composition for either major nutrients or key anti-nutrients in cotton seed. The few detected differences were small in number, and were less than the values found in the reference varieties and/or the literature ranges. Based on these results, it can be concluded that cottonseed from DAS-8191Ø-7 can be considered compositionally equivalent to those derived from convention cotton.

D. Potential Plant Pest and Disease Impacts

APHIS assessed whether potential plant pest or disease impacts are likely to result from the transformation process, from DNA sequences from plant pests, or from any other expression products, new enzymes, proteins or changes in plant metabolism or composition in DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton that are known or anticipated to cause disease symptoms, or to affect plant pests or diseases or plant defense responses (as identified from the previous section). APHIS also assessed or whether DAS-8191Ø-7 is likely to have significantly increased disease and pest susceptibility based on data and observations from field trials on specific pest and disease damage or incidence and any agronomic data that might relate to such damage. Impacts or changes are assessed to determine if they would (1) affect the new DAS-8191Ø-7 and/or result in significant introduction or spread of a damaging pest or disease to other plants; (2) result in the introduction, spread, and/or creation of a new disease; and/or (3) result in a significant exacerbation of a pest or disease for which APHIS has a control program. Any increase in pest or disease susceptibility is evaluated with respect to the context of currently cultivated varieties, the ability to manage the pest or disease, and the potential impact on agriculture.

Cotton itself is not considered a plant pest in the United States (7 CFR part 340.2). The *A. tumefaciens*-transformed plants used in the generation of DAS-8191Ø-7 were treated with the antibiotic carbenicillin to kill *A. tumefaciens* cells (DAS 2013, p. 21), so DAS-8191Ø-7 is not infected with *A. tumefaciens* (a plant pest). Furthermore, sequences derived from plant pests (promoter from cassava vein mosaic virus, terminator and intervening sequences from *Agrobacterium* Ti plasmids, and T- DNA border sequences, summarized above) incorporated into DAS-8191Ø-7 do not result in the production of infectious agents or disease symptoms in plants (DAS 2013, pp. 26-27); therefore, it is unlikely that DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton could pose a plant pest risk based upon these sequences.

A number of insects and diseases affect cotton. In 2012, the most important insect pests in terms of cotton yield loss were, in descending order of economic loss, *Lygus* species, stink bugs (Pentatomidae), thrips (Thripidae), spider mites, bollworm/budworm complex (*Helicoverpa zea* and *Heliothis virescens*), and the cotton fleahopper (*Pseudatomoscelis seriatus*) (Williams 2012). Of the various diseases affecting cotton, the most troublesome in 2011, in descending order of percent lost, were nematodes (*Meloidogyne* spp., *Reniform* spp. and other spp.), seedling diseases (*Rhizotonia*, etc.), boll rots (*Rhizopus*, etc.), root rot

(*Phymatotrichopsis omnivora* (=*Phymatotrichum omnivorum*)), leaf spots and bacterial blight (*Xanthomonas malvacearum*) (National Cotton Council 2011).

DAS collected data relevant to cotton diseases and insect pests from field experiments conducted at eight sites in 2012 (DAS 2013, pp. 83, 84, 116-117, 202, Figure 4, Tables 19 and 20). These locations cover a diverse range of environmental conditions where commercial cotton is grown in the United States. Personnel familiar with cotton cultivation practices (field station managers, field agronomists, and field associates) collected data on disease and pest damage ratings, and arthropod abundance for DAS-8191Ø-7, control line 98M-2983 (near isogenic nontransgenic isoline) and six unique reference lines.

The introduced genes did not significantly alter the observed insect pest infestation and disease occurrence or resulting damage on DAS-8191Ø-7 over the control lines (DAS 2013, pp. 115-117, Tables 19 and 20). The insect and disease pressure was typical of that found in those growing locations. Insect damage and disease was limited and when present, was found in the test and control plots.

Host plant quality (including such components as carbon, nitrogen, amino acid sources, trace elements, and defensive metabolites) is known to affect herbivore performance and fecundity; and higher-trophic level interactions, such as the performance of predators and parasitoids, may also be affected (Arimura 2009; Awmack 2002). Similarly a wide array of secondary metabolites in plants is known to provide defense against microbes (Dixon 2001). Thus, changes in host plant quality and secondary metabolites may have the potential to affect the ability of DAS-8191Ø-7 to withstand attack by pests and diseases or have impacts on nontarget organisms including beneficial organisms. However, as discussed earlier there were no significant changes in DAS-8191Ø-7 composition that would render DAS-8191Ø-7 more susceptible to pests and diseases over its control or reference cotton varieties. Likewise, the observed agronomic traits did not reveal any significant changes that would indirectly indicate that DAS-8191Ø-7 is or could be relatively more susceptible to pests and diseases over control or reference cotton varieties. These observations further support the conclusion that DAS-8191Ø-7 is unlikely to be more susceptible to plant pathogens and insect pests than conventional cotton.

In response to the cotton boll weevil (*Anthonomus grandis*) having caused more than \$23 billion in economic losses, in 1978 the Boll Weevil Eradication Program was established as a cooperative effort between USDA and State officials to work with cotton growers to eradicate the boll weevil from the United States (USDA APHIS 2013). To date, the boll weevil has been eradicated from more than 98 percent of the U.S. cotton acreage in 15 Southeastern and Southwestern States, as well as significant portions of 3 others. Nearly all 17 cotton states have local regulations concerning the boll weevil. A proposed Federal quarantine for boll weevil was drafted and published for public comment in early 2007, and the final rule may be published in 2014.

Current boll weevil control measures include recommendations for cotton stalk destruction (Texas Department of Agriculture 2013; USDA APHIS 1998; USDA APHIS 2009). Accordingly, volunteer cotton plants are of special concern where the boll weevil is present and can serve as host plants and negatively influence the control of these pests (Texas Department of Agriculture 2013). Specifically Louisiana and Texas provide that 2,4-D is a key and preferred method to kill regrowth (Miller 2011; USDA APHIS 2012). APHIS considered whether 2,4-D tolerant cotton might impact the ability to control boll weevil in areas where 2,4-D is used as part of a control program. APHIS concludes that this is unlikely to result in an increased plant pest risk, because a number of methods for control of cotton regrowth are available to growers (Charles 2013; Dow 2013, p. 132; Keeling 2009; Morgan 2011a & 2011b; Thompson 2008). In addition, DAS recognizes the utility of 2,4-D in the eradication of the boll weevil and has been actively engaged in research focused on identifying alternative herbicides that can be used for cotton stalk control (DAS 2013, pp. 131-133).

For all of the reasons above, APHIS concludes that DAS-8191Ø-7 is unlikely to differ from conventional cotton in its ability to harbor or transmit plant pathogens or pests and cause indirect plant pest effects on other agricultural products.

E. Potential Impacts on Nontarget Organisms Beneficial to Agriculture

DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton is not engineered for pest resistance, thus there are no 'target' or 'nontarget' species. APHIS assessed whether exposure or consumption of DAS-8191Ø-7 would have a direct or indirect adverse impact on species beneficial to agriculture. Organisms considered were representatives of the species associated with production of the regulated crop in the agricultural environment. This assessment includes an analysis of data and information on the DAS-8191Ø-7 compared to the non-GE counterpart (or other comparators) for any biologically relevant changes in the phenotype or substances (e.g. proteins, nutrients, antinutrients, metabolites, etc.) produced which may be novel or expressed at significantly altered amounts that are associated with impacts on organisms beneficial to agriculture, and/or any observations of beneficial organisms associated with the plants.

Although many of the invertebrate organisms found in cotton-producing areas are considered pests, such as the cotton bollworm and tobacco budworm, most invertebrates are considered beneficial (University of Arkansas 2014). Beneficial insects include a wide variety of predators which catch and eat smaller insects and parasitic insects that live on or in the body of other insects during at least one stage of their life cycle. Other beneficial insects are pollinators. In the United States, bumble bees (*Bombus* spp.), honeybees (*Apis dorsata, A.indica* and *A. mellifera*) and long-horned bees (*Melissodes* spp.) are considered the most important pollinators of cotton (McGregor 1976). Other beneficial organisms include soil macrofauna

(earthworms, termites, ants, beetles, and millipedes, among others) which play a major role in the breakdown of surface dead plant material (Ruiz 2008).

The petitioner assessed the potential for DAS-8191Ø-7 to impact nontarget organisms, including those considered beneficial to agriculture, and determined that there would be no effect (DAS 2013, p. 131). DAS-8191Ø-7 is compositionally similar to other cotton varieties and will not adversely affect other organisms compared to other cotton varieties. Furthermore, APHIS has found no evidence or reason to believe that the presence of the add-12 and pat genes or the expressed AAD-12 and PAT proteins in DAS-8191Ø-7 would have any impact on other organisms, including organisms beneficial to agriculture. The AAD-12 protein is expressed in a variety of plant tissues in DAS-8191Ø-7 with average expression values ranging from 10.74 ng/mg dry weight in roots at plant maturity to 71.17 ng/mg dry weight in leaves at the 4-leaf stage of growth (DAS 2013, p. 73; Oosterhuis 1990). Similarly, the PAT protein is expressed throughout the plant during multiple growing stages with average values from 0.11 ng/mg dry weight in pollen at the early bloom stage to 13.29 ng/mg in leaves at the 4-leaf stage of growth (DAS 2013, p. 80). AAD-12 and PAT expression values were similar for sprayed treatments as well as for plots sprayed and unsprayed with 2,4-D.

The inserted genetic material is not toxic and does not produce any substance that would be considered toxic. The AAD-12 protein does not share any meaningful amino acid sequence similarities with known toxins (DAS 2013, p. 75). AAD-12 amino acid sequence similarities were evaluated using BLASTp search algorithm against the GenBank non-redundant protein dataset. The only significant similarities identified were grouped into 10 categories: 2,4-D/alpha-ketoglutarate dioxygenase, putative alkylsulfatase, alpha-ketoglutarate (dependent) dioxygenase, alphaketoglutarate-dependent sulfonate dioxygenase, taurine catabolism dioxygenase, taurine dioxygenase, dioxygenase, oxidoreductase, pyoverdine biosynthesis protein, and hypothetical (putative) or unnamed proteins. DAS reported that none of the similar proteins returned by the search identified any safety concerns that might arise from the expression of AAD-12 protein in cotton. Bioinformatic analyses demonstrated that the PAT protein does not share amino acid sequence similarity with known protein toxins that would present any safety concerns. In addition, acute oral toxicity studies have indicated that the AAD-12 and PAT proteins have no adverse effects in mice at the highest dose tested (DAS 2013, pp. 75 & 82). The lack of known toxicity of ADD-12 and PAT suggests no potential for deleterious effects on beneficial organisms such as bees and earthworms.

The donor organism for the *aad-12* gene, *Delftia acidovorans* (formerly designated as *Pseudomonas acidovorans* (1926-1987) and *Comamonas acidovorans* (1987-1999)) is widely distributed in nature (soil, water) and has been infrequently isolated from humans and animals (von Graevenitz 1985; Wen 1999). The PAT protein was derived from *Streptomyces viridochromogenes*, a gram-positive soil bacterium (OECD, 1999). *D. acidovorans* and *S. viridochromogenes* are neither plant pests nor known pests of organisms beneficial to agriculture.

The use of the 2,4-D herbicide in the cultivation of DAS-8191Ø-7 or its offspring is regulated by EPA under its existing regulations for the registration of pesticide use. EPA considers the impacts on the environment, including effects on nontarget organisms in establishing application rates and residue tolerances for herbicides, including 2,4-D (EPA 1997; EPA 2005). APHIS has not identified any other potential mechanisms for deleterious effects on nontarget organisms.

Therefore, based on the above analysis of protein sequence analysis, acute toxicity studies, and the natural occurrence of the proteins in nature, APHIS concludes that exposure to and/or consumption of DAS-8191Ø-7 are unlikely to have any adverse impacts to organisms beneficial to agriculture.

F. Potential for Enhanced Weediness of DAS-8191Ø-7

APHIS assessed whether DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton is likely to become more weedy (i.e. more prevalent, competitive, damaging or difficult-to-control in situations where it is not wanted) than the nontransgenic progenitor from which it was derived, or other varieties of the crop currently under cultivation. The assessment considers the basic biology of the crop, the situations in which crop volunteers or feral populations are considered weeds, and an evaluation of the DAS-8191Ø-7 compared to the nontrangsenic progenitor or other appropriate counterpart evaluated under field (and/or lab) conditions characteristic for the regions of the United States where the DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton is intended to be grown for characteristics related to establishment, competiveness, reproduction, survival, persistence and/or spread that could influence weediness and the ability to manage the crop as a weed. For cotton, such characteristics include seed dormancy and germination, vigor, rate of growth and development, flowering, seed yield and propagule dispersal. The assessment also considers whether the engineered trait affects methods of control for cotton in situations where it is managed as a weed or volunteer in subsequent crops or in feral populations.

Upland cotton (*G. hirsutum*) possesses few of the characteristics common to plants that are successful weeds (Baker 1965; Keeler 1989) and is not considered to be a serious or common weed in the United States. It is not listed as a weed in the major weed references (Crocket 1977; Holm 1979; Muenscher 1980), nor is it present on Federal or State lists of noxious weed species (USDA APHIS 2010; USDA NRCS 2014). Cotton can become locally feral or naturalized in suitable areas, such as southern Florida, Hawaii, and Puerto Rico (Coile 2003; Fyxell 1979; USDA NRCS 2014; University of South Florida 2014). Upland cotton is a domesticated perennial grown as an annual crop that is not generally persistent in unmanaged or undisturbed environments without human intervention. Modern cultivars are not frost tolerant and do not survive freezing winter conditions, do not produce abundant or long-lived seeds that can persist or lie dormant in soil, do not exhibit vegetative propagation or rapid vegetative growth, and do not compete effectively with other cultivated plants (OECD 2008). In areas where winter temperatures are mild and freezing does not

occur, cotton plants can occur as volunteers in the following growing season (Baughman 2011; Charles 2013; Fromme 2011; Keeling 2009; Morgan 2011a & 2011b; Thompson 2008). However, these volunteers can be easily controlled by herbicides or mechanical means.

This assessment includes an evaluation of the unique characteristics of DAS-8191Ø-7 when grown under field conditions. DAS conducted field trials during the 2012 growing season across eight locations representative of the major cotton-growing areas of the United States to evaluate phenotypic, agronomic and ecological characteristics (DAS 2013, p. 202). DAS-8191Ø-7, seven near isogenic nontransgenic lines and reference variety plants were grown under conditions of no herbicide applications and sprayed with 2,4-D plus glufosinate (DAS 2013, pp. 112-119). DAS evaluated seven agronomic characteristics: early population, seedling vigor, flower initiation, nodes above first white flower, plant height, percent open bolls and lint yield; and disease and insect pressure (DAS 2013, p115, Table 19). Analyses of these field data revealed no statistically significant differences between non-sprayed DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton and the isoline (control). Seed dormancy is a characteristic that is often associated with plants that are considered weeds. Lab studies found no significant differences in germination (as an indicator of dormancy) of DAS-8191Ø-7 cottonseed compared with nontransgenic control cottonseed (98M-2983XCoker310) under warm (30° C) and cool conditions (18° C).

Based on the agronomic field data and literature survey about cotton weediness potential, the herbicide-resistant traits conferred by the *aad-12* gene is very unlikely to provide DAS-8191Ø-7 with a selective advantage in unmanaged ecosystems and allow it to persist as a troublesome or invasive weed. To control various cotton pests, including nematodes, verticillium wilt, seedling diseases, and pink bollworm, cotton is often rotated with other crops. As described above, cotton plants can volunteer under appropriate environmental condition in the following growing season but typically do not reduce crop yield (York 2004). Still, the herbicide-resistance traits could complicate efforts to control volunteer cotton in settings where 2,4-D is being applied for weed control where DAS-8191Ø-7 would be considered a weed (Charles 2013; Fromme 2011; Keeling 2009; Morgan 2011a & 2011b; Thompson 2008). In such circumstances cotton volunteers can be controlled by mechanical means (tillage), use of an herbicide with a different mode of action, appropriate variety selection and crop rotation (DAS 2013, p. 135; Keeling 2009; Morgan 2010; Morgan 2011a; Morgan 2011b; Thompson 2008; York 2004).

Based on the agronomic field and laboratory data, and literature survey concerning weediness potential of cotton, DAS-8191Ø-7 is unlikely to persist as a troublesome weed or to have a significant impact on current weed management practices. DAS-8191Ø-7 volunteers and feral populations can be managed using a variety of currently available methods and alternative herbicides. Furthermore, extensive post-harvest monitoring of field trial plots planted with DAS-8191Ø-7 under USDA-APHIS notifications and permits and field data reports did not reveal any differences in survivability or persistence relative to other varieties of the same crop currently

being grown. These data suggest that DAS-8191Ø-7 is no more likely to become a weed than conventional varieties of the crop.

G. Potential Impacts on the Weediness of Any Other Plants with which DAS-8191Ø-7 Can Interbreed

Gene flow is a natural biological process with significant evolutionary importance. A number of angiosperm taxa are believed to be derived from hybridization or introgression between closely related taxa (Ellstrand 2003; Harlan 1975; Rieseberg 1993; Stace 1987; van Tienderen 2004). It has been a common practice by plant breeders to artificially introgress traits from wild relatives into crop plants to develop new cultivars (Khoury 2013). However, gene flow from crops to wild relatives is also thought of as having a potential to enhance the weediness of wild relatives, as observed in rice, sorghum, sunflower and a few other crops (Ellstrand 1999). This topic is covered in two sections: 1) the potential for gene flow and introgression and 2) if so, the potential impact of introgression.

1) Potential for hybridization and gene introgression

Two cultivated and two wild species of cotton grow in the United States and its territories. *G. hirsutum* (Upland cotton) is the most widely cultivated species, comprising 98% of the U.S. cotton planted in 2013 (USDA NASS 2013). The vast majority of Upland cotton is cultivated in the Cotton Belt, which stretches across the southern United States from Virginia to California (USDA NASS 2013). Small amounts are also grown in Puerto Rico for breeding and seed production purposes (Information Systems for Biotechnology 2013). In addition to cultivated varieties, naturalized or native⁶ populations of *G. hirsutum* grow in Florida, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, while naturalized populations grow in some of the Hawaiian Islands (Coile 2003; Fryxell 1979; Lee 1984; USDA NRCS 2014; Wagner 1990; Wagner 2012; Wunderlin 2008).

The second cultivated species, *G. barbadense* (Pima or Egyptian cotton), is grown in Arizona, California, New Mexico, and Texas, but no longer widely grown as an agricultural commodity in Hawaii (Pleasants 2005; USDA NASS 2013). Naturalized populations of *G. barbadense* grow in Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands and most of the major Hawaiian Islands (Wagner 1990; USDA NRCS 2014). Two wild species of cotton are native to the United States, *G. thurberi* and *G. tomentosum*, which grow in Arizona and Hawaii respectively (USDA NRCS 2014).

G. hirsutum is tetraploid and thus effectively incompatible with diploid species such as G. thurberi. Plants from these two groups do not normally hybridize in natural settings and produce fertile offspring, and experimental crosses are difficult (OECD 2008). In contrast, G. hirsutum is sexually compatible with the tetraploids G.

⁶ A "native" plant is one that has grown in a particular region or ecosystem for hundreds or thousands of years. A "naturalized" plant is one that does not need human help to reproduce and maintain itself over time in an area where it is not native (USDA NRCS 2014).

barbadense and G. tomentosum and can form viable and fertile progeny with both species (Brubaker 1993; OECD 2008; Saha 2006). Thus, unassisted outcrossing and gene introgression could potentially occur in areas where these species are colocated.

Wind dispersal of cotton pollen is negligible because of its large size and selfadherent properties (Jenkins 1993; McGregor 1976; OECD 2008). However, crosspollination between cotton species can occur through the activity of pollinating insects (McGregor 1976; OECD 2008; Van Deynze 2005). For transgene introgression from DAS-8191Ø-7 to occur there would have to be spatial proximity between DAS-8191Ø-7 and the recipient variety or species, overlap in their flowering phenology, and overlap in their pollinators (Pleasants 2005). In general, the extent of transgene introgression will depend on the species pool, preferences, and abundance of pollinators, which can vary according to region, location, season, time of day, and use of insecticides. In addition, transgene introgression will decrease with increasing geographic distance between the source and receiver populations and physical barriers; and intermediate pollinator-attractive plants can reduce the potential for pollen movement (Green 1953; Llewellyn 2007; McGregor 1976; OECD 2008; Umbeck 1991; Van Deynze 2005; Zhang 2005). Additional information on the biology of cotton can be found within the OECD cotton consensus document (OECD 2008).

Because of eradication intended to control the pink bollworm, native and feral populations of *G. hirsutum* have become very rare and it has been listed as endangered by the state of Florida (USDA FS 2013). Although the remaining naturalized populations of *G. hirsutum* grow in Southern and Central Florida, their northernmost reported location (Gilchrest County, FL) is separated by over 120 miles from the nearest commercial cotton production areas in the Florida panhandle (Calhoun County, FL) (Wunderlin 2008; USDA NASS 2014). Thus, outcrossing from DAS-8191Ø-7 to naturalized *G. hirsutum* in Florida is highly unlikely.

In contrast, *G. hirsutum* is cultivated in many areas where *G. barbadense* is also grown (USDA NASS 2013). In addition, as noted above, native and/or naturalized populations of both species are present in Hawaii, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands. Although cultivated varieties of both species are largely self-pollinated, insect-mediated cross-pollination can occur both within and between the species (Brubaker 1993; Llewellyn 2007; OECD 2008; Van Deynze 2005; Van Deynze 2011). Bumble bees (*Bombus* spp.), *Melissodes* and *Halictus* bees, honey bees (*Apis mellifera*), and *Scolia* wasps are the primary pollinators (McGregor 1976).

Published studies report that there has been relatively little gene introgression from *G. hirsutum* into native or naturalized *G. barbadense* in Central America and the Caribbean, despite the fact that *G. barbadense* has been grown in the presence of the predominant *G. hirsutum* since prehistoric times (Fryxell 1979). In contrast, introgression from *G. barbadense* to native or naturalized *G. hirsutum* in these areas has been relatively common (Brubaker 1993; Wendel 1992). Various mechanisms

have been suggested to account for this asymmetry (Brubaker 1993; Jiang 2000; OGTR 2008; Percy 1990). While none of these mechanisms leads to complete isolation between the two species, the reported asymmetry in gene flow suggests that gene introgression from cultivated *G. hirsutum* varieties such as DAS-8191Ø-7 to native or naturalized *G. barbadense* should be rare.

However, gene introgression from cultivated *G. hirsutum* to cultivated *G. barbadense* may be more likely, since gene flow between cultivated varieties of these species appears to occur with the opposite asymmetry from that observed between native or naturalized varieties (Brubaker 1993; Van Deynze 2011; Wendel 1992). The mechanism underlying this reversal in the directionality of gene flow accessions is not known. Nonetheless, outcrossing rates from DAS-8191Ø-7 to cultivated *G. barbadense* are still likely to be low. For instance, Van Deynze (2005) reported that Upland/Pima hybrid plants have been observed at a rate of 0.01% in fields sown with seeds of cultivated varieties that were obtained from production fields separated by at least 800 meters.

With regard to *G. tomentosum*, natural populations of this species are found on all Hawaiian Islands except Hawaii; the species is dominant on Kohoolawe and several sizable populations are found on Oahu and Maui. Populations are located on the drier, leeward coastal plains of the islands at low elevations, which are also the areas that are primarily used for agriculture (Pleasants 2005). *G. hirsutum* has not been grown as an agricultural commodity in Hawaii for decades, and APHIS has no information suggesting that seed companies use the Hawaiian Islands as a winter nursery.

The flowering period for *G. tomentosum* corresponds to the end of the rainy season; it may begin as early as January, with peak flowering occurring in April and May, and may extend through August in a very wet year (Pleasants 2010). Thus, any cultivated cotton that blooms between January and August could potentially overlap with *G. tomentosum*. Previously, it was thought that peak anthesis and receptivity in *G. tomentosum* occurs at dusk, whereas in *G. hirsutum* the flowers open in the morning and whither by evening (OECD 2008). However, Pleasants (2010) found that *G. tomentosum* flowers also open in the morning, dehisce rapidly, and begin to senesce by late afternoon. These results suggest that there is substantial overlap in flowering phenology between *G. hirsutum* and *G. tomentosum*.

Spontaneous self-pollination is rare in G. tomentosum, perhaps due to the structure of its flowers. Instead, the species appears to rely on the action of pollinators (Münster 2007; Pleasants 2005). It was previously thought that moths were the only insects that pollinated G. tomentosum, and thus that there was little overlap with pollinators of G. hirsutum (OECD 2008; Pleasants 2005). However, more recent studies have shown that G. tomentosum is pollinated by honeybees and carpenter bees, which are among the species that also pollinate commercially grown G. hirsutum. In addition, both of these pollinators are long-distance foragers; for instance, honeybees may forage up to 6-10 miles from their nest (Pleasants 2010).

Thus, in addition to overlap in flowering phenology, there is overlap in pollinators between *G. tomentosum* and *G. hirsutum*. However, no hybrids between *G. hirsutum* and *G. tomentosum* have been identified to date, although only a relatively small number of accessions and marker loci have been examined (DeJoode 1992).

Expression of the AAD-12 and PAT proteins do not cause any major changes in the phenotype of cotton plants other than to confer resistance to the herbicide 2,4-D and expression of the marker protein PAT. Thus, the introduced genetic material is unlikely to cause an increased rate of outcrossing of DAS-8191Ø-7 relative to non-transgenic varieties. Should outcrossing from DAS-8191Ø-7 to *G. barbadense* or *G. tomentosum* occur, transgene introgression would still require the establishment of hybrid progeny followed by persistence of the transgene through self-crossing or back-crossing into the recipient species in subsequent generations.

The low level of introgression from *G. hirsutum* to native or naturalized *G. barbadense* observed in the Caribbean and the phenomenon of hybrid breakdown suggests that transgene introgression from DAS-8191Ø-7 to native or naturalized *G. barbadense* can occur but is likely to be rare (Fryxell 1979; Fang 2013; Jiang 2000; OGTR 2008). In the absence of herbicide treatment, the transgenic material in DAS-8191Ø-7 is unlikely to confer a selective advantage on any hybrid progeny that may result from outcrossing. Thus, the transgenes present in DAS-8191Ø-7 are unlikely to increase the rate of successful transgene introgression from DAS-8191Ø-7 into native or naturalized *G. barbadense* populations relative to the rate of gene introgression from conventional cultivars.

Transgene introgression from DAS-8191Ø-7 to cultivated *G. barbadense* can also occur but is also likely to be rare since cultivated *G. barbadense* is regularly harvested. While the likelihood of transgene movements to *G. barbadense* is likely greater with cultivated varieties than with native or naturalized *G. barbadense*, such movements would tend to involve plants producing seeds intended for processing rather than planting because seed production fields are isolated from commercial fields. Seed production isolation standards will help ensure that any movement of transgenes into seed production fields will remain at very low levels (AOSCA 2012; Van Deynze 2005). The transgenes present in DAS-8191Ø-7 unlikely to increase the rate of successful transgene introgression from DAS-8191Ø-7 into cultivated *G. barbadense* relative to the rate of gene introgression from conventional cultivars.

Finally, introgression into *G. tomentosum* in Hawaii is also likely to be rare, both because of barriers to introgression (Brubaker 1993; Jiang 2000; OGTR 2008; Percy 1990), and because there is no commercial cotton production on these islands (USDA NASS 2013). If any Upland cotton is grown in the Hawaiian Islands, it is grown at a very small scale and outcrossing to *G. tomentosum* is unlikely to occur. Should outcrossing nonetheless occur, transfer of the transgenes present in DAS-8191Ø-7 would not be expected to confer a selective advantage on the hybrid progeny or to reduce hybrid breakdown, which would be expected to eliminate

_

⁷ "Hybrid breakdown" is the poor viability or lethality in F_1 hybrids between species.

introgressed genes from the *G. tomentosum* population. Thus, the transgenes present in DAS-8191Ø-7 are unlikely to increase the rate of successful transgene introgression from DAS-8191Ø-7 to *G. tomentosum*.

In summary the available evidence indicates that there is a low potential for introgression of transgenic material from DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton to *G. tomentosum* or to native or naturalized *G. barbadense*. There is no evidence that any of the genetic elements used in DAS-8191Ø-7 would increase the rate of outcrossing or gene introgression of DAS-8191Ø-7 relative to non-transformed cotton.

2) Relative fitness/weediness of recipients after introgression

As discussed in the previous section, the genetic material introduced into DAS-8191Ø-7 does not confer or enhance weedy characteristics of cultivated Upland cotton. There is no reason to believe that it would do so in naturalized or native *G. hirsutum*, in *G. tomentosum*, or in cultivated, naturalized, or native *G. barbadense*. Thus, in the unlikely event that transgene introgression from DAS-8191Ø-7 to one of these other types of cotton were to occur, the herbicide resistance traits would provide a selective advantage only when the resulting hybrids were in contact with the herbicide (i.e., in an agricultural field or treated rights of way). However, APHIS could find no reports that any of these potential recipient populations are actively controlled by herbicides. Therefore, transgene introgression from DAS-8191Ø-7 would not be expected to adversely impact recipient plants or increase their fitness or weediness any more than would gene flow from cultivated non-transgenic Upland cotton. Nor would it affect efforts to remove wild populations, as no such efforts exist.

Therefore, it is highly unlikely that Upland cotton plants in the United States and its territories will be found outside of an agricultural setting, except along roadsides along seed transportation routes. It is also highly unlikely that gene flow and introgression will occur between DAS-8191Ø-7 plants and wild or weedy species in a natural environment. Herbicides are available to control volunteer glufosinate and 2,4-D resistant cotton and weedy relatives. USDA has therefore determined that any adverse consequences of gene flow from DAS-8191Ø-7 to wild or weedy species in the United States and its territories are highly unlikely.

Based on the information presented in the petition and in relevant literature, APHIS has reached the following conclusions. The genetic modification in the DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton is not expected to increase the potential for gene flow, hybridization and/or introgression to occur to sexually compatible taxa compared to the nontransgenic recipient or other varieties of the crop commonly grown. Gene flow, hybridization and/or introgression of genes from DAS-8191Ø-7 to other sexually compatible relatives, including wild, weedy, feral or cultivated species in the United States and its territories is not likely to occur. Therefore, DAS-8191Ø-7 is not expected to increase the weed risk potential of other species with which it can interbreed in the United States and its territories.

H. Potential Changes to Agriculture or Cultivation Practices

APHIS assessed whether significant changes to agricultural or cultivation practices from the adoption of DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton are likely to impact plant diseases or pests or their management, including any APHIS control programs. This includes consideration of any changes in pesticide applications, tillage, irrigation, harvesting, etc. as they relate to plant pests and diseases.

Other than the use of 2,4-D to control weeds, none of the management practices currently employed for conventional cotton cultivation is expected to change if DAS-8191Ø-7 is determined to be no longer subject to the regulatory requirements of 7 CFR part 340 or the plant pest provisions of the Plant Protection Act. DAS studies demonstrate that the cultivation practices needed for growing DAS-8191Ø-7 are essentially indistinguishable from practices used to grow conventional cotton varieties with the exception of the 2,4-D based weed-control regime (DAS 2013, pp. 121-140).

Herbicides can impact pests or pathogens directly or indirectly through effects on the control of the crop or weeds associated with the crop. As noted in Section D. "Potential Plant Pest and Disease Impacts" above, field studies demonstrated that neither the herbicide resistance traits nor the herbicide treatments appear to alter the response of DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton to abiotic stress, diseases, or arthropod pests under natural levels of these stressors, nor were pest arthropods more abundant around DAS-8191Ø-7.

No differences in insect or disease damage were observed in field trials with DAS-8191Ø-7 (DAS 2013, pp. 112-117). Because agricultural and cultivation practices would not be significantly different than that of conventional cotton, APHIS does not foresee changes in either insects or disease damage or control measures employed due to agricultural or cultivation practices with DAS-8191Ø-7.

The current and proposed uses of 2,4-D in cotton are described in the petition (DAS 2013, pp. 133-135). Although 2,4-D is not currently registered by EPA for use on cotton, it is used for burndown in no-till cotton fields (Greenberg 2007; Lalli 2011; Miller 2011; University of Delaware 2008; USDA APHIS 2012). Because 2,4-D has approximately three weeks of residual soil activity, a 30 day waiting period is generally required before planting cotton (DAS 2013 pp. 33-34; Penn State 2014). If EPA approves DAS's submitted application to register 2,4-D for use on cotton, growers would be authorized to apply 2,4-D on cotton (or in mixtures of other herbicides if *aad-12* is stacked with other herbicide tolerant genes) for preplant applications without restrictions and for in-crop post-emergence applications on DAS-8191Ø-7. The proposed use will allow application of 2,4-D at burndown or pre-emergence (1 lb. acid equivalent/acre), followed by one or two post-emergence (0.5 – 1.0 lb. acid equivalent/acre) at least 12 days apart through the mid-bloom stage of cotton. The total maximum seasonal application rate is estimated to be 3.0

lbs acid equivalent/acre. Issues related to herbicide drift and volatilization will be further addressed in the USDA APHIS NEPA document for this petition.

Upon EPA registration of DAS-8191Ø-7 DAS expects that growers will have the ability to continue to use established cotton production practices including crop rotation, tillage systems, labeled herbicides, and planting and harvesting machinery currently being utilized (DAS 2013, pp. 121-129 & 133-140). The anticipated registration changes would facilitate a wider window of application for 2,4-D in cotton, which is expected to provide a tool for improved control of broadleaf weeds (including some with resistance to other herbicides such as glyphosate and ALS) that can be integrated into weed management programs using no-till or reduced tillage or conventional tillage. The impacts of this system for reducing or managing weeds and the evolution of herbicide-resistant weeds is outside the scope of this analysis will be examined as part of APHIS analysis under the National Environmental Policy Act. Greater weed control could potentially reduce disease and pest pressure in cotton if the diseases and pests of the weeds also use cotton as a host.

Crop rotations (successive planting of different crops on the same land) has been recommended for cotton cultivation to optimize soil nutrition, prevent soil erosion, improve pest control and alternating herbicides with altered modes of action (Waddle 1984). Cotton is often rotated with other crops to control various cotton pests including nematodes and various soil-borne seedling diseases (University of California 2013). Cover crops may be planted between periods of regular crop production to prevent soil erosion and provide humus or nitrogen may include guar, annual sweet-clover, biennial sweet clover, cowpeas, mung bean, crimson clover, sespedeza and *Crotalaria* and some non-legumes (Waddle 1984). Crop rotation practices in cotton were analyzed in the petition (DAS 2013, pp. 121-129 & 133-140). 2,4-D has short-lived soil activity, with a half-life of 6.2 days for 2,4-D under aerobic soil conditions (EPA 2005). Crop rotation restrictions of a maximum of 30 days and should be adequate for rotation to other crops (DAS 2013, p. 133; Penn State 2014). Therefore, crop rotation practices are not expected to be adversely impacted by the use of 2,4-D on fields planted to DAS-8191Ø-7.

None of the management practices currently employed for cotton production is expected to change if DAS-8191Ø-7 is determined to be no longer subject to the regulatory requirements of 7 CFR part 340 or the plant pest provisions of the Plant Protection Act. DAS's studies demonstrate that the agronomic characteristics and cultivation practices employed when growing DAS-8191Ø-7 are essentially indistinguishable from practices used to grow other cotton varieties. The geographic range or seasonality of cotton cultivation is not expected to change to accommodate the cultivation of DAS-8191Ø-7. DAS-8191Ø-7 is comparable to currently available cotton varieties in terms of resistance to insects and disease.

APHIS could not identify any significant changes to agricultural or cultivation practices (e.g. pesticide applications, tillage, irrigation, harvesting, etc.) from

adoption of DAS-8191Ø-7; therefore, no impact on plant diseases or pests or their management is likely to occur.

I. Potential Impacts from Transfer of Genetic Information to Organisms with which DAS-8191Ø-7 Cannot Interbreed

APHIS examined the potential for the new genetic material inserted into DAS-8191Ø-7 cotton to be horizontally transferred without sexual reproduction to other organisms and whether such an event could lead directly or indirectly to disease, damage, injury or harm to plants, including the creation of new or more virulent pests, pathogens, or parasitic plants. The gene transfer between unrelated organisms (horizontal gene transfer) is one of the most intensively studied fields in the biosciences since 1940, and the issue gained extra attention with the release of transgenic plants into the environment (Dröge 1998). Potential risks from stable horizontal gene transfer (HGT) from genetically engineered organisms to another organism without reproduction or human intervention were recently reviewed (Keese 2008). Mechanisms of HGT include conjugation, transformation and transduction, and other diverse mechanisms of DNA and RNA uptake and recombination and rearrangement, most notably through viruses and mobile genetic elements. HGT has been a major contributor to the spread of antibiotic resistance amongst pathogenic bacteria; emergence of increased virulence in bacteria, eukaryotes and viruses; and, in the long run, to major transitions in evolution.

1) Potential for horizontal gene transfer to bacteria, fungi, or invertebrates

DAS-8191Ø-7 has the *aad-12* and *pat* genes derived from bacteria. Horizontal gene transfer and expression of DNA from a plant species to bacterial, fungal or invertebrate species is unlikely to occur based on the following observations. Although there are many opportunities for plants to directly interact with fungi and bacteria (e.g. as commensals, symbionts, parasites, pathogens, decomposers, or in the guts of herbivores) and with invertebrates as plant pests, there are almost no evolutionary examples of HGT from eukaryotes to bacteria or from plants to fungi or invertebrates (Keese 2008). Examples of HGT between eukaryotes and fungi primarily involve gene acquisition or transfer by fungi to or from other distantly related fungi or bacteria (Keeling 2008; Keese, 2008) and HGT between plants and fungi is extremely rare (Richards 2009). Examples of HGT between plants and invertebrates are also extremely rare, and most examples of HGT in insects involve acquisition of genes from their pathogens or endosymbionts (Acuna 2012; Keese 2008; Zhu 2011).

Horizontal transfer from and expression in bacteria of the foreign DNA inserted into the nuclear genome of the GE plant is unlikely to occur. First, many genomes (or parts thereof) have been sequenced from bacteria that are closely associated with plants including *Agrobacterium* and *Rhizobium* (Wood 2001; Kaneko 2002). There is no evidence that these organisms contain genes derived from plants. HGT from plants to bacteria is a very low frequency event, primarily because functional and

selective barriers to HGT increase with genetic distance (Keese 2008). Second, in cases where review of sequence data implied that horizontal gene transfer occurred, these events are inferred to occur on an evolutionary time scale on the order of millions of years (Brown 2003; EFSA 2009; Koonin 2001). Third, transgene DNA promoters and coding sequences are optimized for plant expression, not prokaryotic bacterial expression. Thus even if horizontal gene transfer occurred, proteins corresponding to the transgenes are not likely to be produced. Fourth, both the FDA (1998) and the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA 2009) have evaluated horizontal gene transfer from the use of antibiotic resistance marker genes and concluded that the likelihood of transfer of antibiotic resistance genes from plant genomes to microorganisms in the gastrointestinal tract of humans or animals, or in the environment, is very rare or remote.

2) Potential for horizontal gene transfer to viruses

DAS-8191Ø-7contains the promoter and the 5'UTR from the cassava vein mosaic virus (CsVMV) (DAS 2013, p. 30; Verdaguer 1996). APHIS also considered whether horizontal transfer of DNA from the GE plant to plant viruses was likely to occur and would lead to the creation or selection of plant viruses that are more virulent or have a broader host range. This issue has been considered before by other science review panels and government regulatory bodies (EPA 2006; Keese, 2008). HGT is not unusual among plant viruses; however this is generally limited to exchange between viruses present in the same host organism in mixed infections, and most commonly involves homologous recombination, relying on sequence similarity at the point of crossover (Keese 2008). HGT from virus sequences engineered into plants has been demonstrated with infecting or challenge viruses, including both DNA viruses (e.g. Caulimoviridae and Geminiveridae, which replicate in the nucleus) (Frischmuth 1998) and RNA viruses (which typically replicate in the cytoplasm); however most have been under conditions that favor recombination to restore a defective virus (Fuchs 2007; Keese 2008; Thompson 2010). Populations of recombinants between virus transgenes expressed in transgenic plants infected with related viruses are similar to recombinants found in mixed infections of the same viruses in nontransgenic plants, indicating that there was no novel recombination mechanism in the transgenic plants and no increased risk is expected over what is expected from mixed infections (Keese 2008; Turturo 2008). Nonhomologous recombination in HGT among viruses or between virus transgenes and infecting viruses can occur, but frequently results in gene deletions which can result in nonviable viruses (Morroni 2013). Depending on the particular virus and sequences involved, various hot-spots for recombination have been found in both coding and noncoding regions, and strategies implemented in design of transgenes to avoid recombination have been suggested. No recombinant or undesirable viruses with new properties have been detected for over at least 8-10 years in field tests or during commercial growth of deregulated virus resistant plum, squash, or papaya engineered with genes from viruses that have been deregulated in the United States (Fuchs 2007).

3) Potential for horizontal gene transfer to parasitic plants

Evidence for HGT from plants to other plants is limited to two specific scenarios: (1) exchange of genes between a parasitic plant and its host; and (2) exchange of genes between cells of two plants living in close proximity, such as in a graft junction. In both cases, this type of HGT requires physical contacts between the two plants. Most cases of HGT in plants involve transfer of mitochondrial genomes, which are primarily maternally inherited in plants (Barr 2005), to other mitochondria genomes, and mostly involve parasitic plants and their hosts (Richardson 2007). Recently, (Yoshida 2010) through a comparative genomics analysis implicated HGT for the incorporation of a specific genetic sequence in the parasitic plant purple witchweed (Striga hermonthica) from its monocot host plant. According to this study, the incorporation of the specific genetic sequence (with an unknown function) occurred between sorghum and purple witchweed. However, this HGT occurred before speciation of purple witchweed and related cowpea witchweed (S. gesnerioides) from their common ancestor. Furthermore, S. hermonthica is not found in the United States and S. asiatica, another related parasite of cereal crops, is only present in North Carolina and South Carolina (USDA NRCS 2014). More recent studies demonstrated that in a few parasitic species of the Rafflesiaceae family, out of several genetic sequences examined, about 2.1% of nuclear (Xi 2012) and 24 –41% of mitochondrial (Xi 2013) gene transcripts appeared to be acquired from their obligate host species. However, all the above-mentioned instances of HGT between parasitic plants and their hosts were reported to be of ancient origins, on an evolutionary time scale spanning thousands to millions of years ago and as recently reviewed by Huang (2013). Furthermore in DAS-8191Ø-7, the DNA sequences were inserted into the nuclear genome, not the mitochondrial genome.

If the GE plant becomes infected by a parasitic plant or is naturally grafted to another plant, there is a very low probability that HGT could result in the other plant acquiring DNA from the GE plant. However, in both scenarios this newly introduced DNA would likely reside in somatic cells, and with little chance of reaching the germ cells, this introduced DNA could not persist in subsequent generations unless the recipient plant reproduced asexually from the affected cells.

Based on the above analysis APHIS therefore concludes that HGT of the new genetic material inserted into the GE plant to other organisms is highly unlikely, and is not expected to lead directly or indirectly to disease, damage, injury or harm to plants, including the creation of new or more virulent pests, pathogens, or parasitic plants.

J. Conclusion

APHIS has reviewed the information submitted in the petition, supporting documents, and other relevant information to assess the plant pest risk of DAS-8191Ø-7 compared to the unmodified variety from which it was derived. APHIS concludes that DAS-8191Ø-7 is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk based on the following findings:

- No plant pest risk was identified from the transformation process or the insertion of new genetic material because DAS-8191Ø-7 was produced by transformation using disarmed *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*; and the plants were treated with an antibiotic to devitalize *A. tumefaciens*. The inserted genetic material which was derived from plant pests does not result in the production of infectious agents or disease symptoms in plants.
- No increase in plant pest risk was identified in DAS-8191Ø-7 from the expression of the inserted genetic material of new proteins, because DAS-8191Ø-7 can be considered compositionally and nutritionally equivalent to those derived from convention cotton.
- Disease and pest incidence and/or damage were not observed to be significantly increased or atypical in DAS-8191Ø-7 compared to the nontransgenic counterpart or other comparators in field trials conducted in growing regions representative of where DAS-8191Ø-7 is expected to be grown and greenhouse and laboratory studies. Observed agronomic traits also did not reveal any significant differences that would indirectly indicate that the DAS-8191Ø-7 is more susceptible to pests or diseases.
- Exposure to and/or consumption of DAS-8191Ø-7 are unlikely to have any adverse impacts on organisms beneficial to agriculture based on the analysis of the potential toxicity based on lack of amino acid sequence similarities with known toxins and mice acute toxicity studies and the donor organisms are widely distributed in nature.
- DAS-8191Ø-7 is no more likely to become a weed or be weedier than conventional varieties of the crop based on its observed agronomic characteristics, weediness potential of the crop and current management practices available to control DAS-8191Ø-7 as a weed. Volunteers and feral populations of the herbicide resistant DAS-8191Ø-7 can be managed to include, mechanical means (tillage) and the use of an herbicide with a different mode of action.
- DAS-8191Ø-7 is not expected to increase the weed risk potential of other species with which it can interbreed in the United States or its territories. Gene flow, hybridization and/or introgression of inserted genes from DAS-8191Ø-7 to other sexually compatible relatives with which it can interbreed is not likely to occur. These compatible relatives are not considered weedy or invasive. The new phenotypes conferred by genetic engineering are not likely to increase the weediness of these compatible relatives or affect the current ability to control these relatives in situations where they are considered weedy or invasive. The following measures are still available for their control such as tillage practices and the use of alternative herbicides.
- Significant changes to agricultural or cultivation practices (e.g. pesticide applications, tillage, irrigation, harvesting, etc.) from adoption of DAS-8191Ø-7 were not identified and not likely to increase plant diseases or pests or compromise their management.
- Horizontal gene transfer of the new genetic material inserted into DAS-8191Ø-7 to other organisms is highly unlikely, and is not expected to lead directly or

indirectly to disease, damage, injury or harm to plants, including the creation of new or more virulent pests, pathogens, or parasitic plants.

K. References

- Acuna, R., Padilla, B.E., Florez-Ramos, C.P., Rubio, J.D. Herrera, J.C. Benavides, P., Lee, S.J. Yeats, T.H., Egan, A.N., Doyle, J.J., Rose, J.K. (2012) Adaptive horizontal transfer of a bacterial gene to an invasive insect pest of coffee. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109:4197-202.
- Allen, G.C., Spiker, S., Thompson, W.F. (2000) Use of matrix attachment regions (MARs) to minimize transgene silencing. Plant Molecular Biology 43:361-376.
- AOSCA (2012) Seed Certification Handbook. pp. 166. Association of Official Seed Certifying Agencies, Moline, Illinois.
- Arimura, G., Matsui, K., Takabayashi, J. (2009) Chemical and molecular ecology of herbivore-induced plant volatiles: proximate factors and their ultimate functions. Plant Cell Physiology 50:911-923.
- Awmack, C.S., Leather, S.R. (2002) Host plant quality and fecundity in herbivorous insects. Annual Review of Entomology 47:817-844.
- Baker, H.G. (1965) Characteristics and modes of origin of weeds. pp. 147-168. In: The Genetics of Colonizing Species. H.G. Baker, G.L. Stebbins (eds.). Academic Press, London.
- Barker, R.F., Idler, K.B., Thompson, D.V., Kemp, J.D. (1983) Nucleotide sequence of the TDNA region from the *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* octopine Ti plasmid pTi15955. Plant Molecular Biology 2:335-350.
- Barr, C.M., Neiman, M., Taylor, D.R. (2005) Inheritance and recombination of mitochondrial genomes in plants, fungi and animals. New Phytologist. 168:39-50.
- Baughman, T. (2011) Cotton planting should be delayed in times of drought. AgriLife May 5, 2011.
- Brown, J.R. (2003) Ancient horizontal gene transfer. Nature Reviews Genetics 4:121-132.
- Brubaker, CL., Koontz, J.A., Wendel, J.F. (1993) Bidirectional cytoplasmic and nuclear introgression in the New World cottons, *Gossypium barbadense* and *G. hirsutum* (Malvaceae). American Journal of Botany 80:1203-1208.
- Buchanan, G.A. (1992) Trends in Weed Control Methods. pp. 47-72 In: Weeds of Cotton: Characterization and Control, Number Two The Cotton Foundation Reference Book Series. C.G. McWhorter, J.R. Abernathy (eds.). The Cotton Foundation, Memphis, Tennessee.
- Charles, G., Roberts, G., Kerlin, S., Hickman, M. (2013) Controlling volunteer cotton. Cotton Research and Development Corporation. Australian Government.

- Coile, N.C., Garland, M.A. (2003) Notes on Florida's Endangered and Threatened Plants. p. 24. Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services. Gainseville, Florida.
- Crockett, L.J. (1977) Wildly Successful Plants: A Handbook of North American Weeds. pp. vii-ix. Macmillan Publishing Co., Inc., New York, NY.
- DAS (2010) Petition for Determination of Nonregulated Status for Herbicide Tolerant DAS-68416-4 Soybean. Submitted by Mark Krieger, Dow AgroSciences on November 17, 2010. USDA APHIS petition number 09-349-01p.
- DAS and MS Tech (2011) Petition for Determination of Nonregulated Status for Herbicide Tolerant DAS-444Ø6-6 Soybean. Submitted by Mark Krieger, Dow AgroSciences LLC and M.S. Technologies LLC on October 19, 2011. USDA APHIS petition number 11-234-01p.
- DAS (2013) Petition for Determination of Nonregulated Status for Herbicide Tolerant DAS-8191Ø-7 Cotton. Submitted by Gary Rudgers, Dow AgroSciences LLC on November 17, 2013. USDA APHIS petition number 13-262-01p.
- DeJoode, D.R., Wendel, J.F. (1992) Genetic diversity and origin of the Hawaiian Islands cotton, *Gossypium tomentosum*. American Journal of Botany 79:1311-1319.
- Dixon, R.A. (2001) Natural products and plant disease resistance. Nature 411:843-847.
- Dröge, M., Pühler, A. Selbitschka, W. (1998) Horizontal gene transfer as a biosafety issue: A natural phenomenon of public concern. Journal of Biotechnology 64:75-90.
- EFSA (2009) Consolidated presentation of the joint Scientific Opinion of the GMO and BIOHAZ Panels on the "Use of Antibiotic Resistance Genes as Marker Genes in Genetically Modified Plants" and the Scientific Opinion of the GMO Panel on "Consequences of the Opinion on the Use of Antibiotic Resistance Genes as Marker Genes in Genetically Modified Plants on Previous EFSA Assessments of Individual GM Plants" The EFSA Journal 1108:1-8; 1034:1-82.
- Ellstrand, N.C., Prentice, H.C. Hancock, J.F. (1999) Gene flow and introgression from domesticated plants into their wild relatives. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. 30:539-563.
- Ellstrand, N.C. (2003) Natural Hybridization Between Plant Species. pp.15-25. In: Dangerous Liaisons? When Cultivated Plants Mate With Their Wild Relatives. Johns Hopkins University Press. Baltimore, Maryland.
- EPA (1997) Phosphinothricin acetyltransferase and the genetic material necessary for its production in all plants; exemption from the requirement of a tolerance on all raw agricultural commodities. 62 Federal Register 17717-17720.
- EPA (2005) Reregistration Eligibility Decision for 2,4-D, pp. 320, Washington, DC.
- EPA (2006) "Plant Incorporated Protectants Based on Virus Coat Protein Genes: Science Issues Associated with the Proposed Rule." Meeting Minutes FIFRA

- Scientific Advisory Panel Meeting. December 6-8, 2005. SAP Report No. 2006-01.
- EPA (2008) Glufosinate Summary Document. Registration Review: Initial Docket, March 2008. Docket No. EPA-HQ-OPP-2008-0190.
- Fang, H., Zhou, H., Sanogo, S., Lipka, A.E., Fang, D.D., Percy, R.G., Hughs, S.E., Jones, D.C., Gore, M.A., Zhang, J. (2013) Quantitative trait locus analysis of Verticillium wilt resistance in an introgressed recombinant inbred population of Upland cotton. Molecular Breeding Online. 10.1007/s11032-013-9987-9
- FDA (1998) Guidance for Industry: Use of Antibiotic Resistance Marker Genes in Transgenic Plants Draft Guidance.
- FDA (2006) Guidance for Industry: Recommendations for the Early Food Safety Evaluation of New Non-Pesticidal Proteins Produced by New Plant Varieties Intended for Food Use.
- Frischmuth, T., Stanley, J. (1998) Recombination between viral DNA and the transgenic coat protein gene of African cassava mosaic geminivirus. Journal of General Virology 79:1265–1271.
- Fromme, D., Grichar, J., Morgan, G., Bean, B. (2011) Control of volunteer cotton in corn. Presented at the Texas Boll Weevil Eradication Foundation, Technical Advisory Committee, February 15, 2011. McAllen, TX.
- Fryxell, P.A. (1979) The Natural History of the Cotton Tribe (Malvaceae, Tribe Gossypieae). pp. 130-177. In: Texas A&M University Press. College Station, TX.
- Fryxell, P.A. (1984) Taxonomy and germplasm resources. pp. 27-57. In: Cotton. R.J. Kohel, C.F. Lewis (eds.). American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science of America, Soil Science of America. Madison, Wisconsin.
- Fuchs, M., Gonsalves, D. (2007) Safety of virus-resistant transgenic plants two decades after their introduction: lessons from realistic field risk assessment studies. Annual Review of Phytopathology. 45:173-202.
- Green, J.M., Jones, M.D. (1953) Isolation of cotton for seed increase. Agronomy Journal 45:366-368.
- Greenberg, S.M., Sparks Jr., A.N., Norman Jr., J.W., Coleman, R., Bradford, J.M., Yang, C., Sappington, T.W., Showler, A. (2007) Chemical cotton stalk destruction for maintenance of host-free periods for the control of overwintering boll weevil in tropical and subtropical climates. Pest Management Science 63:372-380.
- Griffin, S.L., Godbey, J.A., Oman, T.J., Embrey, S.K., Karnoup, A., Kuppannan, K., Barnett, B.W., Lin, G., Harpham, N.V.J., Juba, A.N., Schafer, B.W., Cicchillo, R.M. (2013) Characterization of aryloxyalkanoate dioxygenase-12, a nonheme Fe(II)/α-ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenase, expressed in transgenic soybean and *Pseudomonas fluorescens*.
- Grossman, K. (2009) Auxin herbicides: current status of mechanism and mode of action. Pest Management Science 66:113-120.

- Hall, G., Allen, G.C., Loer, D.S., Thompson, W.F., Spiker, S. (1991) Nuclear scaffolds and scaffold-attachment regions in higher plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 88:9320-9324.
- Harlan, J.R. (1975) What is a Crop? pp. 62-81. In: Crops & Man. American Society of Agronomy. Madison, Wisconsin.
- Heap, I. (2013) International survey of herbicide resistant weeds. www.weedscience.org
- Hérouet, C., Esdaile, D.J., Mallyon, B.A., Debruyne, E., Schulz, A., Currier, T., Hendrickx, K., van der Klis, R.-J., Rouan, D. (2004) Safety evaluation of the phosphinothricin acetyltransferase proteins encoded by the pat and bar sequences that confer tolerance to glufosinate-ammonium herbicide in transgenic plants. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 41:134-149.
- Herman, R.A., Fast, B.J., Johnson, T.Y., Sabbatini, J., Rudgers, G.W. (2013) Compositional safety of herbicide-tolerant DAS-81910-7 cotton. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 61:11683-11692.
- Hogan, D. A., S. R. Smith, E. A. Saari, J. McCracken, Hausinger, R.P. (2000) Site-directed mutagenesis of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid/a-ketoglutarate dioxygenase. Identification of residues involved in metallocenter formation and substrate binding. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275:12400-12409.
- Holm, L.G., Pancho, J.V., Herberger, J.P., DL Plucknett, D.L. (1979) pp. 391 A Geographical Atlas of World Weeds. John Wiley and Sons, New York, New York.
- Huang, J., Yue, J. (2013) Horizontal gene transfer in the evolution of photosynthetic eukarytoes. Journal of Systematics and Evolution 51:13-29.
- ILSI CERA (2011) A review of the environmental safety of the PAT protein. International Life Sciences Institute, Center for Environmental Risk Assessment, Washington, D.C.
- Information Systems for Biotechnology (2013) Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, Virginia.
- Jenkins, J.N. (1993) Cotton. pp. 61-70. In: Traditional Crop Breeding Practices: An Historical Review to Serve as a Baseline for Assessing the Role of Modern Biotechnology. OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development). Paris, France.
- Jiang, C.-X., Chee, P.W., Draye, X., Morrell, P.L., Smith C.W., Paterson A.H. (2000) Multilocus interactions restrict gene introgression in interspecific populations of polyploid *Gossypium* (Cotton). Evolution 54:798-814.
- Kaneko T. *et al.* (2002) Complete genomic sequence of nitrogen-fixing symbiotic bacterium *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* USDA110. DNA Research 9:189-197.
- Keeler, K. (1989) Can genetically engineered crops become weeds? Bio/Technology **7**:1134-1139.

- Keeling, P.J., Palmer, J.D. (2008) Horizontal gene transfer in eukaryotic evolution. Nature Reviews Genetics. 9:605-618.
- Keeling, J.W., Reed, J.D., Petty, D.M., Brown, B.A. (2009) Control of volunteer Roundup Ready Flex cotton with postemergence herbicides. p.1333. 2009 Beltwide Cotton Conferences, San Antonio, Texas.
- Keese, P. (2008) Risks from GMOs due to horizontal gene transfer. Environmental Biosafety Research 7:123-149.
- Khoury, C.K., Greene, S., Wiersema, J., Maxted, N., Jarvis, A., Struik, P.C. (2013) An inventory of crop wild relatives of the United States. Crop Science 53:1-13.
- Koonin, E.V., Makarova, K.S., Aravind, L. (2001) Horizontal gene transfer in prokaryotes: quantification and classification. Annual Review of Microbiology 55:709-742.
- Lalli, D. (2011) "Texas State Requirements" Email message to Irene Gatti, March 31, 2011.
- Lee, J.A. (1984) Cotton as a World. pp. 1-25. In: Cotton. R.F. Kohel, C.F. Lewis (eds.). American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America. Madison, Wisconsin.
- Llewellyn, D., Tyson, C., Constable, G., Duggan, B., Beale, S., Steel, P. (2007) Containment of regulated genetically modified cotton in the field. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 121:419-429.
- McGregor, S.E. (1976) Insect Pollination Of Cultivated Crop Plants. USDA.
- Miller, A.B. (2011) "Boll Weevil Eradication phone conference 3:00 pm" Email message to Donna Lalli. April 14, 2011.
- Morgan, G.D. (2010) Producers battling volunteer cotton in corn, sorghum fields. Texas AgriLife. December 24, 2010.
- Morgan, G.D., Fromme, D.A., Baumann, P.A., Grichar, J., Bean, B., Matocha, M.E., Mott, D.A. (2011a) Managing volunteer cotton in grain crops. Texas A&M, AgriLife Extension. Report SCS-2011-04.
- Morgan, G.D., Keeling, J.W., Baumann, P.A., Dotray, P.A. (2011b) Managing volunteer cotton in cotton. Texas A&M, AgriLife Extension. Report SCS-2011-05.
- Morroni, M., Jacquemond, M., Tepfer, M. (2013) Deep sequencing of recombinant virus populations in transgenic and nontransgenic plants infected with cucumber mosaic virus. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions. 26:801-11.
- Müller, T., Fleischmann, T., van der Meer, J.R., Kohler, H.-P.E. (2006) Purification and characterization of two enantioselective α-ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenases, RdpA and SdpA, from *Sphingomonas herbicidovorans* MH. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72:4853-4861.
- Muenscher, W.C. (1980) Weeds, 2nd Edition. p. 545. Cornell University Press, New York and London.

- Münster, P., Wieczorek, A.M. (2007) Potential gene flow from agricultural crops to native plant relatives in the Hawaiian Islands. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 119:1-10.
- National Cotton Council (2011) Cotton Pest Loss Data. Disease Database.
- Norris, S.R., Meyer, S.E., Callis, J. (1993) The intron of *Arabidopsis thaliana* polyubiquitin genes is conserved in location and is a quantitative determinant of chimeric gene expression. Plant Molecular Biology 21:895-906.
- OECD (1999) Consensus document on general information concerning the genes and their enzymes that confer tolerance to phosphinothricin herbicide. pp. 26 Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Paris, France.
- OECD (2008) Consensus document on the biology of cotton (*Gossypium* spp.). pp. 64 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Paris, France.
- OECD (2009) Consensus document on compositional considerations for new varieties of cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* and *Gossypium barbadense*): Key food and feed nutrients and antinutrients. pp. 32 Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. Paris, France.
- OGTR (2008) The Biology of *Gossypium hirsutum* L. and *Gossypium barbadense* L. (cotton), Version 2. pp. 87. Australian Government. Office of the Gene Technology Regulator.
- Ooms, G., Hooykaas, P.J.J., Van Veen, R.J.M., Van Beelen, P., Regensburg-Tuïnk, Schilperoort, R.A. (1982) Octopine Ti-plasmid deletion mutants of *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* with emphasis on the right side of the t-region. Plasmid 7:15 29.
- Oosterhuis, D.M. (1990) Growth and Development of a Cotton Plant. pp. 1-24. In: W.N. Miley and D.M. Oosterhuis (eds.) Nitrogen Nutrition in Cotton: Practical Issues.
- Penn State (2014) Table 2.2-7 Characteristics of "burndown" herbicides for no-till corn. Extension Agronomy Guide, Pest Management.
- Percival, A.E., Wendel, J.F., Stewart, J.M. (1999) Taxonomy and Germplasm Resources. pp. 33-63. In: Cotton: Origin, History, Technology, and Production. W.C. Smith, J.T. Cothren (eds.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, New York.
- Percy, R.G. Wendel, J.F. (1990) Allozyme evidence for the origin and diversification of *Gossypium barbadense* L. Theoritical and Applied Genetics 79:529-542.
- Pleasants, J.M., Wendel, J.F. (2005) Assessment of Potential for Gene Flow Between Transgenic Cotton and the Endemic Hawaiian cotton Final Report. EPA Grant R-83032901.
- Pleasants, J.M., Wendel, J.F. (2010) Reproductive and Pollination Biology of the Endemic Hawaiian Cotton, *Gossypium tomentosum* (Malvaceae). Pacific Science 64:45-55.

- Richards, T.A., Soanes, D.M.; Foster, P.G., Leonard, G., Thornton, C.R., Talbot, N.J. (2009) Phylogenomic analysis demonstrates a pattern of rare and ancient horizontal gene transfer between plants and fungi. Plant Cell 21:1897-911.
- Richardson, A.O., Palmer, J.D. (2007) Horizontal gene transfer in plants. Journal of Experimental Botany. 58:1-9.
- Rieseberg, L.H., Wendel, J.F. (1993) Introgression and Its Consequences in Plants. pp. 70-109. In: Hybrid Zones and the Evolutionary Process. R.G. Harrison (ed.), Oxford University Press, Oxford, U.K.
- Rudgers, G. (2014) "Pat use in DAS-81910-7" Email to Margaret Jones, APHIS BRS. February 6, 2014.
- Ruiz, N., Lavelle, P., Jimenez, J. (2008) Soil Macrofauna Field Manual. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- Saha, S., Raska, D.A., Stelly, D.M. (2006) Upland cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.) x Hawaiian cotton (*G. tomentosum* Nutt. ex Seem.) F₁ hybrid hypoaneuploid chromosome substitution series. Journal of Cotton Science 10:263-272.
- Sauer, M., Robert, S., Jürgen, K.-V. (2013) Auxin: simply complicated. Journal of Experimental Botany 46:2565-2577.
- Stace, C.A. (1987) Hybridization and the plant species. pp. 115–127 In: Differentiation Patterns in Higher Plants. K.M. Urbanska (ed.) Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Tamaoka, J., Ha, D.M., Komagata, K. (1987) Reclassification of *Pseudomonas* acidovorans den Dooren de Jong 1926 and *Pseudomonas testosteroni* Marcus and Talalay 1956 as *Comamonas acidovorans* comb. nov. and *Comamonas testosteroni* comb. nov., with an emended description of the genus *Comamonas*. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 37:52-59.
- Texas Department of Agriculture (2013) Cotton Stalk Destruction.
- Thompson, A., Steckel, L. (2008) Controlling volunteer cotton in soybeans. University of Tennesse Extension. W168.
- Thompson, J.R., Tepfer, M. (2010) Assessment of the Benefits and Risks for Engineered Virus Resistance. Advances in Virus Research. 76:33-56.
- Trejo, W.H., Bennett, R.E. (1963) *Streptomyces* species comprising the blue-spore series. Journal of Bacteriology 85:676-690.
- Turturo, C., Friscina, A., Gaubert, S., Jacquemond, M., Thompson, JR., Tepfer, M. (2008) Evaluation of potential risks associated with recombination in transgenic plants expressing viral sequences. The Journal of General Virology. 89:327-35.
- Umbeck, P.F., Barton, K.A., Nordheim, E.V., McCarty, J.C., Parrot, W.L., Jenkins, J.N. (1991) Degree of pollen dispersal by insects from a field test of genetically engineered cotton. Journal of Economic Entomology 84:1943-1950.
- University of Arkansas (2014) Benificial Insects and Diseases of Cotton. Division of Agriculture, Research & Extension.

- University of California IPM Online (2013). Cotton: Crop Rotation. University of California. Agriculture & Natural Resources Publication 3444.
- University of Delaware (2008) 2,4-D an Important Tool for Burndown Programs.
 University of Delaware, College of Agriculture & Natural Resources, Cooperative Extension.
- USDA APHIS (1996) Availability of Determination of Nonregulatated status for Soybeans Genetically Engineered for Glufosinate Herbicide Tolerance. 160 Federal Register 42581-42582.
- USDA APHIS (1998) Texas and Oklahoma Cooperative Boll Weevil Eradication Program, Environmental Assessment. April 1998.
- USDA APHIS (2001) Availability of Determination of Nonregulatated status for Genetically Engineered Corn for Insect Resistance and Glufosinate Herbicide Tolerance (Corn line 1507). 66 Federal Register 42624-42625.
- USDA APHIS (2004) Availability of Determination of Nonregulated Status for Cotton Lines Genetically Engineered for Insect Resistance. 69 Federal Register 50154-50155.
- USDA APHIS (2005) Availability of Determination of Nonregulated Status for Genetically Engineered Corn (Corn line DAS-59122-7). 70 Federal Register 58663-58664.
- USDA APHIS (2009) Grefenstette, B., El-Lissy, O., Staten, R.T. Pink Bollworm Eradication Plant In The U.S. February 5, 2009.
- USDA APHIS (2010) Federal Noxious Weed List as of December 10, 2010.
- USDA APHIS (2012) Notification Number 12-089-106n. April 11, 2012.
- USDA APHIS (2013) Questions and Answers: Boll Weevil Eradication. Factsheet, May 2013.
- USDA ARS (2013) Fighting back against glyphosate resistance. Agricultural Research 61:10-11.
- USDA ERS FAS (2013) Economic Research Service and Foreign Agricultural Service. Outlook for U.S. Agricultural Trade. AES-79, August 29, 2013.
- USDA FS (2013) Forest Service. Wild Cotton. In: Wildland Shrubs of the United States and its Territories: Thamnic Descriptions. J.K. Francis (ed.).
- USDA NASS (2013) National Agricultural Statistics Service.
- < http://www.nass.usda.gov>
- USDA NASS (2014) National Agricultural Statistics Service.
- < http://www.nass.usda.gov>
- USDA NRCS (2014) Natural Resources Conservation Service.
- http://www.nrcs.usda.gov

- Van Deynze, A.E., Sundstrom, F.J., Bradford, K.J. (2005) Pollen-mediated gene flow in California cotton depends on pollinator activity. Crop Science 45:1565-1570.
- Van Deynze, A.E., Hutmacher, R.B., Bradford, K.J. (2011) Gene flow between *Gossypium hirsutum* L. and *Gossypium barbadense* L. is asymmetric. Crop Science 51:298-305.
- van Tienderen, P.H. (2004) Hybridization in Nature: Lessons for the Introgression of Transgenes into Wild Relatives. pp. 7-23. In: Introgression From Genetically Modified Plants Into Wild Relatives. H.C.M. den Nijs, D. Bartsch, J. Sweet (eds.) CABI, Cambridge, U.K.
- Vencill, W., Nichols, R.L., Webster, T.M., Soteres, J., Mallory-Smith, C., Burgos, N.R., Johnson, W.G., McClelland, M.R. (2012) Herbicide resistance: Toward an understanding of resistance development and the impact of herbicide-resistant crops. Weed Science Special Issue 60:2-30.
- Verdaguer, B., Kochko de, A., Beachy, R.N., Fauquet, C. (1996) Isolation and expression in transgenic tobacco and rice plants, of the cassava vein mosaic virus (CVMV) promoter. Plant Molecular Biology 31:1129-1139.
- von Graevenitz, A. (1985) Ecology, clinical significance, and antimicrobial susceptibility encountered glucose-nonfermentative gram-negative rods. pp. 181-233. In: Nonfermentative gram-negative rods. L.G. Gilardi (ed.). Marcel Dekker, New York, NY.
- Waddle, B.A. (1984) Crop Growing Practices. pp. 233-263. In: Cotton. R.J. Kohel,C.F. Lewis (eds.). American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science of America,Soil Science of America. Madison, Wisconsin.
- Wagner, W.L, Herbst, D.R., Sohmer, S.H. (1990) Manual of the flowering plants of Hawaii, revised edition. pp. 868-902.
- Wagner, W.L.; Herbst, D.R.; Khan, N.; Flynn, T. (2012) Hawaiian vascular plant updates: a supplement to the manual of the flowering plants of Hawai'i and Hawai'i's ferns and fern allies. pp.126.
- Webster, T.M., Nichols, R.L. (2012) Changes in the prevalence of weed species in the major agronomic crops of the southern United States: 1994/1995 to 2008/2009. Weed Science. 60:145-157.
- Wehrmann, A., Vliet, A.V., Opsomer, C., Botterman, J., Schulz, A. (1996) The similarities of *bar* and *pat* gene products make them equally applicable for plant engineers. Nature Biotechnology 14:1274-1278.
- Wen, A., Fegan, M., Hayward, C., Chakrabory, S., Sly, L. (1999) Phylogenetic relationships among members of the *Comamonadaceae*, and description of *Delftia acidovorans* (den Dooren de Jong 1926 and Tamaoka et al. 1987) gen. nov., comb. nov. International Journal of Systematic bacteriology 49: 567-576.

- Wendel, J.F., Brubaker C.L., Percival, A.E. (1992) Genetic diversity in *Gossypium hirsutum* and the origin of Upland cotton. American Journal of Botany 79:1291-1310.
- Wendel, J.F., Cronn, R.C. (2003) Polyploidy and the evolutionary history of cotton. Advances in Agronomy 78:139-186.
- Wendel, J.F., Brubaker, C.L., Seelanan, T. (2010) The origin and evolution of *Gossypium*. pp. 1-18. In: Physiology of cotton. J.M. Stewert, D. Oosterhuis, J.J. Heitholt, J.R. Mauney (eds.) Springer, Netherlands.
- Westendorf, A., Benndorf, D., Müller, R.H., Babel, W. (2002) The two enantiospecific dichlorprop/α-ketoglutarate-dioxygenases from *Delftia acidovorans* MC1 protein and sequence data of RdpA and SdpA. Microbiological Research 157:317-322.
- Westendorf, A., Müller, R.H., Babel, W. (2003) Purification and characterisation of the enantiospecific dioxygenases from *Delftia acidovorans* MC1 initiating the degradation of phenoxypropionate and phenoxyacetate herbicides. Acta Biotechnologica 23:3-17.
- Williams, M. (2012) Cotton Crop Loss Data. Mississippi State University.
- Wohlleben, W., Arnold, W., Broer, I., Hillemann, D., Strauch, E., Pühler, A. (1988) Nucleotide sequences of the phosphinothricin N-acetyltransferase gene from *Streptomyces viridochromogenes* Tü494 and its expression in *Nicotiana tabacum*. Gene 70:25-37.
- Wood, D.W. *et al.* (2001) The genome of the natural genetic engineer *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* C58. Science 294:2317-2323.
- Wright, T.R., Lira, J.M., Walsh, T.A., Merlo, D.J., Jayakumar, P.S., Gaofeng, L.
 (2007) Novel Herbicide Resistance Genes. pp. 164. International Patent
 Application Number PCT/US2006/042133. International Publication Number
 WO 2007/053482. Filing date, October 27, 2006. Publication date, May 10, 2007.
- Wright, T.R., Shan, G., Walsh, T.A., Lira, J.M., Cui, C., Song, P., Zhuang, M., Arnold, N.L., Lin, G., Yau, K., Russell, S.M., Cicchillo, R.M., Peterson, M.A., Simpson, D.M., Zhou, N., Ponsamuel, J., Zhang, Z. (2010) Robust crop resistance to broadleaf and grass herbicides provided by aryloxyalkanoate dioxygenase transgenes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107:20240-20245.
- Wright, T.R., Lira, J.M., Walsh, T.A., Merto, D., Jayakumar, P.S., Zion, G.L. (2013) United States Patent Application No. 13/647,081, Publication No. 2013/0035233 Al, Filing date October 8, 2012. Publication Date, Feb. 7, 2013.
- WSSA (1998) Weed Science Society of America "Herbicide Resistance" and "Herbicide Tolerance" defined. Weed Technology. 12:789.
- WSSA (2007) Herbicide Handbook, ninth edition. pp. 322-328. Weed Science Society of America.
- Wunderlin, R.P., Hansen, B.F. (2008) Atlas of Florida Vascular Plants, [SM Landry and KN Campbell (application development), Florida Center for Community

- Design and Research.] Institute for Systematic Botany, University of South Florida, Tampa. http://www.plantatlas.usf.edu
- Xi, Z., Bradley, R.K., Wurdack, K.J., Wong, K., Sugumaran, M., Bomblies, K., Rest, J.S., and Davis, C.C. (2012) Horizontal transfer of expressed genes in a parasitic flowering plant. BioMed Central Genomics. 13:227. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-13-227.
- Xi, Z., Wang, Y., Bradley, R.K., Sugumaran, M., Marx, C.J., Rest, J.S., Davis, C.C. (2013) Massive mitochondrial gene transfer in a parasitic flowering plant clade. PLoS Genetics. 9:2. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003265.
- York, A.C., Stewart, A.M., Vidrine, P.R., Culpepper, A.S. (2004) Control of volunteer glyphosate-resistant cotton in glyphosate-resistant soybean. Weed Technology 18:532-539.
- Yoshida, S., Maruyama, S., Nozaki, H., Shirasu, K. (2010) Horizontal gene transfer by the parasitic plant *Striga hermonthica*. Science. 1128.
- Zhang, B.-H., Pan, X.-P. Guo, T-.L., Wang, Q.-L., Anderson, T.A. (2005) Measuring gene flow in the cultivation of transgenic cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). Molecular Biotechnology 31:11-20.
- Zhu, B., Lou, M.-M., Xie, G.-L., Zhang, G.-Q., Zhou, X.-P., Li, B., Jin, G.-L. (2011) Horizontal gene transfer in silkworm, *Bombyx mori*. BioMedCentral Genomics. 12:248.